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Resolution Meeting and Pre-Hearing Conference: 
  
The parties participated in a resolution meeting on February 2, 2017.  The parties did not resolve 
the complaint and did not mutually agree to proceed directly to hearing.  The 45-day period 
began on February 20, 2017, and ends, and the Hearing Officer’s Determination (“HOD”) is due 
on April 4, 2017.   The undersigned Impartial Hearing Officer (“Hearing Officer”) convened a 
pre-hearing conference (“PHC”) on the complaint on February 6, 2017, and issued a pre-hearing 
order (“PHO”) on February 9, 2017, outlining, inter alia, the issues to be adjudicated.  
 
ISSUES: 3  
 
The issues adjudicated are:  
 

1. Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to authorize an independent OT 
evaluation requested in writing on November 9, 2016.  4 
 

2. Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop an appropriate IEP on 
May 4, 2016, because it provided insufficient specialized instruction and behavior 
support services, rather than 10 hours per week of specialized instruction outside general 
education, and the 240 minutes of behavioral support that the IEP team agreed to at the 
December 12, 2016. IEP meeting.  

 
3. Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop an appropriate IEP on 

December 12, 2016, because the IEP does not prescribe all services outside general 
education. 5 
 

4. Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to timely revise the student’s IEP 
after the October 4, 2016, IEP meeting to include occupational therapy (“OT”) services 
and increased behavior support services.6 

 
5. Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop or timely develop a BIP 

that was requested in April 2016. 7 
                                                
 
3 The Hearing Officer restated the issue at the outset of the hearing and the parties agreed that these were the issues 
to be adjudicated.   
 
4 Petitioner’s counsel stated during the PHC that this issue may be withdrawn because the authorization for the OT 
evaluation was provided the week prior to the PHC.  The evaluation has now been authorized by DCPS.  At the 
outset of the hearing Petitioner’s counsel wanted to withdraw the issue without prejudice and Respondent objected. 
The Hearing Officer did not allow the withdrawal.   
 
5 The IEP prescribes 10 hours per week of specialized instruction for reading outside of the general education 
setting, 240 minutes per month of behavior support services outside of the general education setting, and 120 
minutes per month of OT services in the general education setting.  Petitioner is asserting that the IEP should have 
prescribed all services outside general education with therapeutic support throughout the school day. 
 
6 Petitioner asserts the IEP was not revised timely after the October 4, 2016, but was revised on December 12, 2016. 
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RELEVANT EVIDENCE CONSIDERED: 
 
This Hearing Officer considered the testimony of the witnesses and the documents submitted in 
the parties’ disclosures (Petitioner’s Exhibits 1 through 61 and Respondent’s Exhibits 1 through 
16) that were admitted into the record and are listed in Appendix A.8   Witnesses’ identifying 
information is listed in Appendix B.9  The Hearing Officer also reviewed and entered into the 
record as a hearing officer exhibit, the HOD issued July 20, 2016, regarding this student (Case # 
2016-0091).  
 
SUMMARY OF DECISION: 
 
Respondent sustained the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence that the student’s 
May 4, 2016, and December 12, 2016, IEPs were reasonably calculated to provide the student 
educational benefit and prescribed the student’s appropriate LRE (Issues # 2 and # 3). Petitioner 
did not sustain the burden of proof that DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to timely 
provide the evaluations, update the student’s IEP and provide the BIP (Issues #1, #4, and #5).  
The Hearing Officer dismissed Petitioner’s case with prejudice and denied Petitioner’s request 
for relief. 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT: 10   
 

1. The student resides with Petitioner in the District of Columbia.   has been determined 
eligible for special education and related services pursuant to IDEA with a disability 
classification of MD including SLD and OHI due to ADHD.   (Petitioner’s Exhibits 7-1, 
11-12, 11-13)   

 

                                                                                                                                                       
7 The FBA was completed in September 2016 and Petitioner asserts that despite the agreement by the team at the 
October 4, 2016, IEP meeting to develop the BIP it was not developed prior to the complaint being filed.  At the 
resolution meeting Petitioner was provided a revised IEP that increased behavior support from 120 minutes per 
month to 240 minutes per month and was provided the BIP.  
 
8 Any items disclosed and not admitted or admitted for limited purposes was noted on the record and summarized in 
Appendix A.   
 
9 Petitioner presented five witnesses: (1) Petitioner's educational advocate employed by Petitioner’s law firm, (2) a 
independent clinical psychologist who evaluated the student, (3) an educational consultant who testified about 
compensatory education, (4) the director of the non-public school proposed by Petitioner and (5) Petitioner. 
Respondent presented five witnesses:  (1) a DCPS psychologist, (2) the student’s current DCPS special education 
teacher, (3) the student’s former DCPS general education teacher, (4) a DCPS occupational therapist and (5) a DCPS 
special education teacher and LEA representative.  
 
10 The evidence (documentary and/or testimony) that is the source of the Findings of Fact (“FOF”) is noted within a 
parenthesis following the finding.  A document is noted by the exhibit number. The second number following the 
exhibit number denotes the page of the exhibit from which the fact was extracted.  When citing an exhibit that has 
been submitted by more than one party separately the Hearing Officer may only cite one party’s exhibit.   
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completed the FBA on September 20, 2016. (Respondent’s Exhibits 3-1, 4-1, 5-1, 5-2, 5-
3) 

 
9. On October 4, 2016, School B convened an IEP meeting to review the recent 

assessments.  The team agreed to (a) add OT services to the student’s IEP, (b) increase 
the student’s behavior support services, (c) conduct an additional OT assessment of the 
student’s sensory concerns, (d) develop a behavior intervention plan (“BIP”) to address 
the student’s behaviors identified in the FBA.  (Witness 1’s testimony, Petitioner’s 
Exhibit 5-3) 

 
10. After the October 4, 2016, IEP meeting, Petitioner transferred the student from School B 

to School A.  Petitioner moved from School B’s neighborhood boundary to School A’s 
neighborhood boundary.  (Petitioner’s testimony, Petitioner’s Exhibit 51-1) 

 
11. On November 9, 2016, Petitioner, through counsel, sent an email to DCPS informing that 

the student had transferred to School B and requesting a meeting to discuss the student’s 
progress.  The email also inquired about the psychological and OT testing DCPS had 
agreed to conduct.  The email stated that if the additional testing had not yet been 
completed Petitioner would be requesting an independent psychological and OT 
evaluation because of concerned that the testing DCPS conducted was not 
comprehensive.     (Petitioner’s Exhibit 51-1) 

 
12. Following the student’s transfer, the student continued to have difficulties with behaviors 

at School A.  On or about November 8, 2016, the student was involved in an altercation 
with another student and was suspended.  (Petitioner’s Exhibit 51-1) 

 
13. On December 1, 2016, the student had a behavioral incident at School A causing a 

disruption on school property for which  was given a two day out of school suspension.  
(Petitioner’s Exhibit 22) 

 
14. On December 12, 2016, School A convened the IEP meeting to review the student’s 

evaluations conducted as result of the October 4, 2016, MDT meeting and to update the 
student’s IEP.   The psychologist who conducted the additional assessments of the 
student indicated she could not complete an assessment to determine if the student 
qualified for ED disability classification because the student left School B and went to 
School A.  The team shared the results of the FBA and agreed to increase the student’s 
behavior support services from 120 minutes per month to 240 minutes per month.  The 
team noted that the BIP was being drafted to focus on recommendations from the FBA.  
The team increased the student’s specialized instruction from 5 hours per week to 10 
hours per week outside general education.  The team agreed that the student’s IEP would 
be revised to include 120 minutes per month of OT services.  A review meeting was 
scheduled for January 24, 2017.  During the meeting Petitioner’s educational advocate 
requested an independent comprehensive psychological evaluation.  (Petitioner’s Exhibit 
3) 
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15. The student’s IEP was amended as of December 12, 2016, to include the following 
services consistent with the team’s agreement at the December 12, 2016, meeting: 10 
hours per week of specialized instruction in reading outside general education, 240 
minutes of behavioral support services per month, and 120 minutes of OT services per 
month.  The student’s services were increased to address the student behavioral concerns 
and to provide  greater academic instruction that the student’s special education 
teacher and the School A staff believed was appropriate.  (Witness 8’s testimony, 
Petitioner’s Exhibit 7-1, 7-10) 

 
16. At the December 12, 2016, based on the reports from the student’s teachers about the 

student’s behaviors, the Petitioner’s educational advocate stated that she believed the 
student needed a full time therapeutic program.  The School A team members stated that 
they would conduct a thirty-day review of the student’s performance under the updated 
IEP, and determine if the student needed an increase in services and a more restrictive 
program.  The School A team members noted that a more restrictive program was 
available at School A, if the team determined the student needed such a program. 
(Witness 1’s testimony, Petitioner’s Exhibits 3, 7)  

 
17. On December 22, 2016, Petitioner’s educational advocate sent a letter to the School A 

principal to memorialize Petitioner’s dissent with regard to some of the outcomes of the 
December 12, 2016, meeting.  In the letter, the advocate requested the independent 
comprehensive psychological evaluation (“IEE”), requested meeting notes from the 
meeting and the revised IEP, draft BIP, and a prior written notice.  The advocate also 
requested that the BIP be finalized and implemented and requested compensatory 
education for the delay in adding OT services to the student’s IEP.  The advocate 
reiterated Petitioner’s position that the student was in need of a full time therapeutic 
placement.  (Petitioner’s Exhibit 2) 

 
18. DCPS authorized the IEE for the comprehensive psychological evaluation.  That 

independent evaluation was conducted in February 2017, and the final evaluation report 
was completed on March 5, 2017.   The evaluator assessed the student, met with 
Petitioner, and reviewed classroom observation/teacher interview results conducted by 
the evaluator’s associate.  The assessments indicated cognitive and academic functioning 
lower than noted in the evaluation DCPS conducted in April 2016.  The IEE indicated the 
student’s cognitive functioning was low average and  academic functioning was far 
below grade level.  The evaluator also concluded the student’s social emotional and 
behavioral functioning qualified  for an ED classification as well as OHI and that  
most likely should be placed in a therapeutic school.  (Witness 3’s testimony, Petitioner’s 
Exhibit 10-1, 10-11, 10-17, 10-24, 11-5, 11-7) 

 
19. An IEP team has not yet reviewed the independent comprehensive psychological 

evaluation to consider the evaluation results and recommendations and no meeting to do 
so has been requested by Petitioner.  (Witness 1’s testimony) 

 
20. On January 31, 2017, DCPS provided Petitioner with authorization to obtain and 

independent OT evaluation.  (Respondent’s Exhibit 12-4, 12-5, 12-6) 
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21. The student has applied to, and has been accepted at, a private separate special education 
school (“School C”).  School C staff reviewed the student’s educational records, met with 
the student and  parent and concluded that it could meet the student’s academic and 
social emotional needs.  School C has an OSSE Certificate of Approval and has 40 
special education students.  All teachers are certified special education teachers and there 
is a student to staff ratio of 3 to 1.  The classroom that has been identified for the student 
currently has four students and three staff members.  There is a lead teacher, an aide, and 
one dedicated aide for one of the students. (Witness 4’s testimony, Petitioner’s Exhibit 
56)  

 
22. Petitioner engaged an educational consultant to develop and propose a compensatory 

education plan to compensate the student for the violations alleged in the complaint of 
inappropriate IEPs and placement and missed services from May 4, 2016 to the date the 
proposal was drafted on March 7, 2017.  The consultant proposed that the student be 
provide 216 hours of tutoring, 36 hours of counseling/behavior support and 18 hours of 
OT services as compensatory education.  (Witness 2’s testimony, Petitioner’s Exhibit 57) 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW: 
 
Pursuant to IDEA §1415 (f)(3)(E)(i) a decision made by a hearing officer shall be made on 
substantive grounds based on a determination of whether the child received a free appropriate 
public education (“FAPE”).  
 
Pursuant to IDEA §1415 (f)(3)(E)(ii) in matters alleging a procedural violation a hearing officer 
may find that a child did not receive FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies impeded the 
child’s right to FAPE, significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the 
decision making process regarding provision of FAPE, or caused the child a deprivation of 
educational benefits.  An IDEA claim is viable only if [DCPS’] procedural violations affected 
the student’s substantive rights.” Lesesne v. District of Columbia, 447 F.3d 828, 834 (D.C. Cir. 
2006) 
 
34 C.F.R. § 300.17 provides: 
A free appropriate public education or FAPE means special education and related services that-- 
(a) Are provided at public expense, under public supervision and direction, and without charge; 
(b) Meet the standards of the SEA, including the requirements of this part; (c) Include an 
appropriate preschool, elementary school, or secondary school education in the State involved; 
and (d) Are provided in conformity with an individualized education program (IEP) that meets 
the requirements of Sec. 300.320 through 300.324 
 
Based solely upon the evidence presented at the due process hearing, an impartial hearing officer 
must determine whether the party seeking relief presented sufficient evidence to 
prevail.  Pursuant to 5E DCMR 3030.14 the burden of proof is the responsibility of the party 
seeking relief.  Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 126 S.Ct. 528 (2005).  The normal standard is 
preponderance of the evidence. See, e.g. N.G. v. District of Columbia 556 F. Supp. 2d (D.D.C. 
2008) see also 20 U.S.C. §1451 (i)(2)(C)(iii).   
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In this case, as noted in the PHO and at the hearing, Petitioner had the burden of production on 
all issues.  Petitioner had both the burden of production and persuasion on issues #1, #4, and #5. 
After Petitioner established a prima facie case on issues #2, and  # 3, the burden of persuasion 
fell to Respondent on issues #2, and #3. 11 
  
ISSUE 1: Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to authorize an independent OT 
evaluation requested in writing on November 9, 2016.   
 
Conclusion: Petitioner did not sustain the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence on 
this issue.  
 
Pursuant to 34 C.F.R. §300.303, “A public agency must ensure that a reevaluation of each child 
with a disability is conducted in accordance with §§ 300.304 through 300.311…if the child’s 
parent or teacher requests a reevaluation.” 

 
34 C.F.R. § 300.304 and § 300.305 require that in evaluating a student a LEA must ensure that a 
child is assessed in all areas related to the suspected disability, including, if appropriate, health, 
vision, hearing, social and emotional status, general intelligence, academic performance, 
communicative status, and motor abilities, and as part of an initial evaluation, review existing 
evaluation data on the child, including evaluations and information provided by the parents of 
the child; current classroom-based, local, or State assessments, and classroom-based 
observations; and observations by teachers and related services providers; and on the basis of 
that review, and input from the child's parents, identify what additional data, if any, are needed to 
determine whether the child is a child with a disability.   

In Harris v. District of Columbia, 561 F.Supp.2d 63 (D. D.C. 2008), the court held that failure to 
conduct evaluations was more than a mere procedural violation of the IDEA finding that “ such 
inaction jeopardizes the whole of Congress' objectives in enacting the IDEA”. Also, in  Edwards-
White v. Dist. of Columbia, the court found that because DCPS was on notice that plaintiffs 
wanted a reevaluation of [the child’s] placement, DCPS was obligated under [the predecessor 

                                                
11 DC Code § 38-2571.03 (6) provides: 
 (A) In special education due process hearings occurring pursuant to IDEA (20 U.S.C. § 1415(f) and 20 U.S.C. § 
1439(a)(1)), the party who filed for the due process hearing shall bear the burden of production and the burden of 
persuasion; except, that: 

(i) Where there is a dispute about the appropriateness of the child’s individual educational program or 
placement, or of the program or placement proposed by the public agency, the public agency shall hold the burden 
of persuasion on the appropriateness of the existing or proposed program or placement; provided, that the party 
requesting the due process hearing shall retain the burden of production and shall establish a prima facie case before 
the burden of persuasion falls on the public agency. The burden of persuasion shall be met by a preponderance of the 
evidence. 

(ii) Where a party seeks tuition reimbursement for unilateral placement, the party seeking 
reimbursement shall bear the burden of production and the burden of persuasion on the appropriateness of the 
unilateral placement; provided, that the hearing officer shall have the authority to bifurcate a hearing regarding a 
unilateral placement; provided further, that if the hearing officer determines that the program offered by the public 
agency is appropriate, it is not necessary to inquire into the appropriateness of the unilateral placement. 
(B) This paragraph shall apply to special education due process hearings resulting from complaints filed after July 1, 
2016. 
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statute to the IDEIA] to review and possibly revise her IEP.. Edwards-White v. Dist. of 
Columbia, 785 F. Supp. 1022, 1024 (D.D.C. 1992). 
 
34 C.F.R. §300.502 (b)(1) provides that a parent has the right to an independent educational 
evaluation at public expense if the parent disagrees with an evaluation obtained by the public 
agency, subject to the conditions in paragraphs (b)(2) through (4) of this section. (2) If a parent 
requests an independent educational evaluation at public expense, the public agency must, 
without unnecessary delay, either-- (i) File a due process complaint to request a hearing to show 
that its evaluation is appropriate; or (ii) Ensure that an independent educational evaluation is 
provided at public expense, unless the agency demonstrates in a hearing pursuant to Sec. Sec. 
300.507 through 300.513 that the evaluation obtained by the parent did not meet agency criteria. 
 
The evidence demonstrates that DCPS conducted an OT evaluation of the student and agreed to 
do further testing at the October 4, 2016, meeting while the student was attending School B.  On 
November 9, 2016, Petitioner’s counsel sent an email to the DCPS informing that the student had 
transferred to School A and requesting a meeting.  The email, among other things, inquired about 
the evaluations DCPS had agreed to conduct and stated that if the evaluations had not yet been 
conducted, Petitioner would be requesting independent evaluations.  
 
At the December 12 2016, meeting Petitioner’s educational advocate requested the independent 
psychological evaluation, which DCPS authorized.  There was no additional request regarding 
the OT evaluation and Petitioner alleged in the complaint a violation of 34 C.F.R § 502(b)(1) 
because DCPS did not grant the independent OT evaluation prior to the complaint being filed.   
The evidence demonstrates that DCPS provided the OT evaluation authorization on January 31, 
2017, promptly after that request was reiterated in the complaint.  As noted in the PHO and at the 
outset of the hearing Petitioner intimated a desire to withdraw this issue from adjudication, but 
only chose to do so without prejudice.  
 
After a review of the facts in this case, the Hearing Officer does not conclude that Petitioner 
made a clear request under 34 C.F.R. § 502(b)(1) for the independent OT evaluation and thus 
DCPS not granting that IEE prior to the complaint being filed was not a violation or a denial of 
FAPE to the student.  The evidence reveals a good faith intention by DCPS to authorize the IEE 
that was clearly requested by Petitioner at the December 12, 2016, meeting and that the 
November 9, 2016, email from Petitioner’s counsel in which a request for IEEs was couched in 
tentative terms, did not amount to a request pursuant to 34 C.F.R. 502(b)(1).  Consequently, the 
Hearing Officer concludes Petitioner did not sustain the burden of proof on this issue. 
 
ISSUE 2: Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop an appropriate IEP on 
May 4, 2016, because it provided insufficient specialized instruction and behavior support 
services, rather than 10 hours per week of specialized instruction outside general education and 
the 240 minutes of behavioral support that the IEP team agreed to at the December 12, 2016. IEP 
meeting.  
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Conclusion: Respondent sustained the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence that 
the IEP it developed on May 4, 2016, was reasonably calculated to provide the student 
educational benefit.  
 
In Board of Education v. Rowley the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-part inquiry 
for determining whether a school district has satisfied the FAPE requirement. First, the state 
must have "complied with the procedures set forth in the Act." Rowley, 458 U.S. at 206. Second, 
the IEP that is developed must be "reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive 
educational benefits." Rowley, 458 U.S. at 206-07. To be appropriate under 34 C.F.R. § 300.324, 
the IEP must consider the (i) strengths of the child; (ii) concerns of the parents; (iii) results of the 
initial or most recent evaluation; and (iv) academic, developmental, and functional needs of the 
child. 
 
“The IEP is the “centerpiece” of the IDEA’s system for delivering education to disabled 
children,” D.S. v. Bayonne Bd. of Educ., 54 IDELR 141 (2010) (quoting Polk v. Cent. 
Susquehanna Intermediate Unit 16, 853 F.2d 171, 173 (3d Cir. 1988), and the centerpiece for the 
implementation of FAPE is the IEP. S.H. v. State-Operated Sch .Dist. of the City of Newark, 336 
F.3d 260, 264 (3d Cir. 2003). 
 
Pursuant to Schaefer v. Weast, 554 F.3d 470 (U.S. App. 2009), the Hearing Officer must “focus 
on the adequacy of the IEP at the time it was created, and ask if it was reasonably calculated at 
that time to enable the student to receive educational benefits.” Schaefer v. Weast, 554 F.3d 470 
(U.S. App. 2009).  Requirements of the IDEA are satisfied when a school district provides 
individualized education and services sufficient to provide disabled children with some 
educational benefit. Blackmon v. Springfield R-XII Sch. Dist. 198 F.3d 648, at 653 (8th Cir. 
1999)  
 
Petitioner’s educational advocate testified that the student was having academic struggles and 
behavior difficulties at School B and Petitioner’s counsel asserted that the student should have 
been provided more specialized instruction and more behavior support services in  initial IEP. 
Petitioner’s counsel asserted that the student’s initial IEP should have contained the same level 
of services agreed to during the student’s the December 12, 2016, IEP meeting, after the student 
transferred to School A.    
 
The credible testimony of the DCPS witnesses, especially  school B general education 
teacher, supported the level of specialized instruction and behavioral support that the team 
prescribed in the student’s initial IEP.  That witness testified credibly that the student academics 
and behavior improved during the remainder SY 2015-2016 at School B after  had an IEP.  
This evidence sufficiently demonstrated that the service levels the May 4, 2016, IEP team 
determined for the student’s initial IEP was reasonably calculated to provide the student 
educational benefit.    
 
The testimony by Petitioner’s educational advocate with regard to the student’s level of 
academic struggling and behavior difficulties was not convincing.  She had not observed the 
student at either at School B or School A.  Although the educational advocate was qualified as an 
expert witness, she asserted that because a FBA had not been developed and a BIP had not yet 
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been put in place, the level of services in the student’s initial IEP was, in her opinion, 
inappropriate.  The Hearing Officer was not convinced by this testimony.  There were no 
additional facts that made her opinion more convincing or more credible than the testimony of 
Respondent’s witnesses.  The educational advocate has never personally observed the student in 

 classes and had not communicated with the student’s teachers and service provides outside 
the IEP meetings.  The Hearing Officer concludes that Respondent sustained the burden of proof 
by a preponderance of the evidence that the student’s initial IEP, of May 4, 2016, was reasonably 
calculated to provide the student educational benefit and there was no denial of FAPE to the 
student in this regard. 
 
ISSUE 3: Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop an appropriate IEP on 
December 12, 2016, because the IEP does not prescribe all services outside general education.  
 
Conclusion: Respondent sustained the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence that 
the IEP it developed on December 12, 2016, was reasonably calculated to provide the student 
educational benefit.  
 
Pursuant to 34 C.F.R. §300.324(b)(1), DCPS must ensure that…the IEP Team reviews the child's 
IEP periodically, but not less than annually, to determine whether the annual goals for the child 
are being achieved; and revises the IEP, as appropriate, to address any lack of expected progress 
toward the annual goals…and in the general education curriculum, if appropriate; the results of 
any reevaluation conducted …; information about the child provided to, or by, the parents…; the 
child's anticipated needs; or other matters. 
 
Removing a child with disabilities "from the regular education environment occurs only when 
the nature or severity of the disability is such that education in regular classes cannot be achieved 
satisfactorily." 34C.F.R. § 300.550; 34 C.F.R. §300.114 see also 20 U.S.C. § (a)(5)(A) (a 
disabled child is to participate in the same activities as non-disabled children to the "maximum 
extent appropriate"); Roark ex rel. Roark v. District of Columbia, 460 F.Supp.2d 32, 43 
(D.D.C. 2006) ("The IDEA requires school districts to place disabled children in the least 
restrictive environment possible.") 
 
DCPS witnesses, especially the student’s current special education teacher, credibly testified that 
the student’s increased academic and behavioral concerns prompted the December 12, 2016, IEP 
team to increase the student’s specialized instruction and behavioral support services at that 
meeting.  Although Petitioner’s educational advocate expressed at that meeting that she believed 
the student needed a therapeutic special education school, that request was not supported by data 
that indicated the student’s warranted total removal from  non-disabled peers.  Although 
Petitioner also testified regarding the student’s behavior, the Hearing Officer was not convinced 
by her testimony that the severity of the student’s behaviors warranted any more services than 
the DCPS witnesses testified to as being appropriate. The evidence demonstrates that the DCPS 
team members stated that a 30-day review of the student’s performance under the new IEP could 
be conducted and that Petitioner’s request could be revisited at a subsequent meeting.  
 
An independent comprehensive psychological evaluation has now been conducted that supports 
a different disability classification and a more restrictive placement for the student.  However, 
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there has been no meeting held or requested to review that IEE and its recommendations.  The 
Hearing Officer was not convinced by the testimony of the witness who recently conducted the 
evaluation of the student, that  was in need of a more restrictive placement at the time of the 
December 12, 2016, IEP meeting.  
 
As previously stated, although Petitioner’s educational advocate testified about the student’s 
academic and behavioral difficulties, there were nothing that made her opinion more convincing 
or more credible than the testimony of Respondent’s witnesses.  The educational advocate has 
never personally observed the student in  classes and had not communicated with the student’s 
teachers and service provides outside the IEP meetings. 
 
The Hearing Officer concludes that based on the evidence presented, despite the student’s 
apparent increased behavior concerns since transferring to School A, the evidence does not 
support a conclusion that as of the December 12, 2016, meeting the student was in need total 
removal for the general education setting.  Respondent sufficiently demonstrated through the 
evidence presented that the student’s December 12, 2016, IEP was reasonably calculated to 
provide the student educational benefit.  The Hearing Officer concludes that Respondent 
sustained the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence on this issue and there was no 
denial of FAPE to the student in this regard.  
 
ISSUE 4: Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to timely revise the student’s IEP 
after the October 4, 2016, IEP meeting to include OT and increased behavior support services. 
 
Conclusion: Petitioner did not sustain the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence on 
this issue.  
 
As previously noted, pursuant to 34 C.F.R. §300.324(b)(1), DCPS must ensure that…the IEP 
Team reviews the child's IEP periodically, but not less than annually, to determine whether the 
annual goals for the child are being achieved; and revises the IEP, as appropriate, to address any 
lack of expected progress toward the annual goals…and in the general education curriculum, if 
appropriate; the results of any reevaluation conducted …; information about the child provided 
to, or by, the parents…; the child's anticipated needs; or other matters. 
 
Petitioner asserts that the student’s IEP should have been amended sooner than the December 12, 
2016, meeting to include the services that the team agreed to October 4, 2016.  However, the 
evidence demonstrates that soon after the October 4, 2016, meeting the student transferred 
schools and that on November 9, 2016, Petitioner requested another IEP meeting.  There was no 
evidence of delay in scheduling a meeting at School A after that request was made and there 
were evaluations that had been agreed to at the October 4, 2016, meeting that were reviewed at 
the December 12, 2016, meeting.  Although there was a two-month delay in the IEP being 
amended and finalized, there was insufficient evidence that DCPS was responsible for the delay 
or that the delay in the IEP being amended was unreasonable or that there was harm to the 
student as a result of the delay between the two meetings.  Consequently, the Hearing Officer 
concludes that Petitioner did not sustain the burden proof by a preponderance of the evidence on 
this issue.  
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ISSUE 5: Whether DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop or timely develop a 
BIP that was requested in April 2016. 
 
Conclusion: Petitioner did not sustain the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence on 
this issue.  
 
34 C.F.R. 300.324 (a) Development of IEP. (1) General. In developing each child's IEP, the IEP 
Team must consider-- (i) The strengths of the child; (ii) The concerns of the parents for 
enhancing the education of their child; (iii) The results of the initial or most recent evaluation of 
the child; and (iv) The academic, developmental, and functional needs of the child. (2) 
Consideration of special factors. The IEP Team must--(i) In the case of a child whose behavior 
impedes the child's learning or that of others, consider the use of positive behavioral 
interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that behavior; 
 
The evidence demonstrates that at the December 12, 2016, meeting, the team determined that a 
draft BIP would be developed.  Petitioner was provided the BIP shortly after the complaint was 
filed.  Although Petitioner asserts that a BIP should have been developed more promptly after an 
April 2016 request, the evidence demonstrates, as noted in the June 20, 2106, HOD, that DCPS 
agreed to conduct a BIP by September 20, 2016.  DCPS complied with that timeline and 
reviewed the FBA.  The student was provided behavioral support services in  initial IEP and 
those services were increased at the December 12, 2016, meeting.  Although the BIP was not 
provided to Petitioner until after the complaint was filed, the evidence demonstrates that DCPS 
acted reasonably and made good faith efforts to assess the student and make the promised 
changes to  IEP, including providing the BIP within a reasonable time, given the process was 
prolonged by the student changing schools.  Based upon the evidence of this case, the Hearing 
Officer does not conclude that Petitioner sustained the burden of proof by a preponderance of the 
evidence on this issue or that the student was denied a FAPE in this regard.  

Remedy: 

A hearing officer may award appropriate equitable relief when there has been an actionable 
violation of IDEA. See 20 U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E)(ii)(II); Eley v. District of Columbia, 2012 WL 
3656471, 11 (D.D.C. Aug. 24, 2012) (citing Branham v. District of Columbia, 427 F.3d at 11–
12.)   The Hearing Officer has concluded that there was no denial of FAPE to the student proved.  
Because no denial of a FAPE was proved, none of the requested relief from Petitioner is being 
provided. However, the Hearing Officer acknowledges that there is a pending independent 
comprehensive psychological evaluation that needs to be reviewed by a team and encourages the 
parties to promptly convene a meeting to review that evaluation, review current data for the 
student and review and revise the student’s IEP as appropriate.   

ORDER:  
 

1. Petitioner’s due process complaint is hereby dismissed with prejudice.  
 

2. All relief requested by Petitioner is denied. 
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APPEAL PROCESS: 
 
The decision issued by the Hearing Officer is final, except that any party aggrieved by the 
findings and decision of the Hearing Officer shall have ninety (90) days from the date of the 
decision of the Hearing Officer to file a civil action with respect to the issues presented at the due 
process hearing in a District Court of the United States or a District of Columbia court of 
competent jurisdiction, as provided in 20 U.S.C. §1415(i)(2). 
 
/S/   Coles B. Ruff    
_________________________ 
Coles B. Ruff, Esq. 
Hearing Officer       
Date: April 4, 2017 
 
 
Copies to: Counsel for Petitioner 
  Counsel for LEA  

OSSE-SPED {due.process@dc.gov} 
ODR {hearing.office@dc.gov} 
contact.resolution@dc.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 




